1962

## State of Utah v. Coy Ringo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The parties will be referred to throughout the Brief by their given names, or as the STATE AND DEFENDANT.

Pages cited by statements concerning evidence will refer to the Reporter's Transcript of Testimony, and the record of the case on appeal.

**All Italics are mine.**

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a Jury Verdict finding the defendant, Coy Ringo, guilty of the crime of malicious aforethought assault on a convict in the Utah State Prison with an instrument, namely, a laundry pin, contrary to the provisions of *Title 76, Chapter 7, Section 12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953*, as amended by the laws of the State of Utah, 1961.

At the trial of the defendant, he was represented by a Jimi Mitsunaga, Esq.

Thereafter, the Court appointed Dwight L. King to represent the defendant, and to perfect this Appeal.

All statements concerning the facts are based on the record on appeal, and the transcript of evidence on appeal since the present Counsel for the defendant has no personal knowledge of any occurrence and must rely therefor solely upon the Record made by the Trial Court.

On December 30, 1961, defendant was a convict in the Utah State Prison, committed on August 6th, 1958. (R. 85) Defendant was assigned to the Section known as B-North of the State Prison, a maximum security section.

Also assigned to Section B-North was a convict by the name of Howard LeRoy Ollerdisse.

Defendant, between 11:00 o'clock and 12:30 left his cell No. 213 and entered an area known as "Inmate Security Area" as shown on Exhibit 13, and in the inmate security area, he, and the inmate Ollerdisse commenced an affray. As soon as the guards were able, the two convicts were replaced in their respective cells, defendant in 213, and Ollerdisse in 209. The doors to both cells were closed and both men were immediately subjected to physical examinations. Exactly how the defendant obtained access to the inmate security area, at the same time as Ollerdisse was in said area is not shown by the evidence, although it is hinted at by the witnesses that he in some way jammed the mechanism which locked his cell and in this way kept the cell open until Ollerdisse came into the inmate Security area.

The affray between Ollerdisse and defendant was witnessed by guards who testified concerning the fact that both Ollerdisse and defendant struck several blows at their opponent in the affray.

An examination of Ollerdisse revealed that he had two punctured type wounds, one in the abdomen, and one in his rib cage. The punctured type wound in the abdomen had caused internal bleeding to the point where Ollerdisse was required to undergo surgical repair of the wound in his stomach at the Salt Lake County Hospital.

The guards at the State Prison immediately follow-

ing the affray and after the convicts had been returned to their respective cells, while the convicts were out of the cells, conducted a shake-down of the cell and searched the convicts. No weapon was ever found which could be responsible for the wound in Ollerdisse's stomach and chest.

The State introduced two Exhibits, one a Laundry pin which had been straightened out, and the other a laundry pin which had not been straightened out, and it is the claim of the State that a similar laundry pin straightened out was the weapon, or instrument, which the defendant used on the convict Ollerdisse.

There was no evidence that anyone ever saw such a weapon in the hand of defendant, and with the exception of statements made by the defendant himself, outside of the Trial Court, there is no evidence whatsoever to connect a laundry pin with the defendant or with the wound which the convict, Ollerdisse, suffered.

The only evidence connecting laundry pins or any weapon with the defendant is testimony by Ferris Andrus and Ernest D. Wright. They testified about a statement which the defendant gave when questioned about the affray. At the time Andrus questioned the defendant, there was present Andrus who is deputy Sheriff of Salt Lake County, the Deputy Warden, Fitzgerald, Ernest Wright, Executive Director of the Pardon Board, and Lt.

Jooston. (R. 229, 230, 231) The conversation with defendant took about between 35 minutes to an hour. Defendant was not represented by Counsel. Andrus did not inform Ringo he was charged with any crime, that he had a right to be represented by Counsel, did not tell him that he had a right not to incriminate himself, nor apparently was defendant informed that he did not have to discuss the occurrence with Ollerdisse. (R. 234, 235, 236) No promises were made to the defendant, nor threats of force used against him. (R. 241) Witness Wright agrees that defendant was never informed about being charged, that he had a right to Counsel, but disagrees with Andrus, concerning whether or not Andrus informed defendant that whatever he said would be used against him in Court. (R. 243, 244)

Proper objections were taken by Counsel on the ground that no proper foundation had been laid, and that the statements made by the defendant were not voluntary. (R. 245) Counsel also moved the Court to strike and exclude Andrus and Wright's testimony on the ground that they violated the defendant's rights under the Federal and State Constitution. (R. 292)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

**DEFENDANT WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 12, ARTICLE 1, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, IN THAT HE WAS COMPELLED TO GIVE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIMSELF.**



## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

DEFENDANT WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 12, ARTICLE 1, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, IN THAT HE WAS COMPELLED TO GIVE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIMSELF.

The defendant, at the time he was questioned by the Deputy Sheriff, Executive Director, Deputy Warden, and other officials at the State Prison, was in the maximum security section of the prison. Evidence showed that his cell was, in effect, a solitary confinement cell, that there were solid steel doors on the front of the cell which were closed each night from 4:30 P.M. until 8 o'clock the next morning. The force of prison discipline could well be appreciated by the defendant.

The circumstances, it is submitted, are calculated to impress upon the mind of the defendant, the great power that the Deputy Warden and the other prison officials had over him, and which, if his conduct was less than cooperative, they had full power to discipline him for. It is submitted that under the circumstances his statements in answer to the questions by Andrus were not voluntarily given. He had not come to the hearing at his own request and he certainly was under duress and in a position where his will was not effective. He was involuntarily incarcerated and disciplined.

The right against self incrimination has long been carefully guarded, not only by the Federal, but by the State Courts, and there is a great abundance of judicial

precedence concerning the protections that the defendant is entitled to do.

In *State v. Braasch*, 119 U. 450, 229 P 2d. 289, this Court considered the question of whether or not a confession was voluntary and pointed out that certain conduct was important to protect constitutional rights of the defendant. They include that fact, that the defendant was not subject to physical discomfort, and "defendant was fully informed of his rights." (P. 292) Defendant was never informed about his rights before the confession nor even informed that an investigation for a crime was under way. No waiver of rights by defendant here is possible since no knowledge of rights was ever given.

It has been stated that the compulsion prohibited is not alone physical or mental duress, such as comes from unlawful commands and authoritative orders by those engaged in extorting testimony, but comprehends also the lesser degree of compulsion which subjects the citizen to some important disadvantage to procure the evidence which is desired, should they extract it from him. *U. S. v. Bell*, 81 Fed. 830, *Boyd v. U.S.*, 116 U.S. 616, 6 Sup. Ct., 524, 29 L. Ed 746.

It is defendant's position that because of the force, apparent and actual, that the Deputy Warden and the other officials had over him, he was compelled to answer all questions that were submitted to him.

*Section 64-9-39 UCA 1953*, gives to the Warden and Deputy Warden permission to punish convicts for misconduct. The only restrictions being that the convict cannot be showered with cold water or whipped with a lash on the bare body. Defendant was already under strict discipline, being kept in solitary confinement, it seems unlikely that he would not be aware of the power the Deputy Warden had and what could happen to him if he refused to cooperate.

Under State and Federal Constitutions, the rule for State Courts must be that no person shall, at any time, be compelled to answer any question, or say anything which might be confession of commission of public offense, or which might be used against him in an attempt to convict him of public offense. See authorities cited by this Court in *State v. Braasch*, 119 U. 450, 229 P 2d., 289 p. 292; *Layman v. Webb*, 350 P. 2d 323.

It has always been the rule that a confession may be regarded as obtained by compulsion, and therefore in violation of the Fifth Amendment, where the defendant was not advised of his rights. *U. S. v. Kallas*, 272 Fed. 742. The Federal rule and probably the Utah rule was set down in the *Kallas* case.

“Testimony as to a confession upon a trial is admissible in evidence, though not sufficient to convict; but the Court is now asked to go a step further, and hold that the alleged confession

obtained by an inquisition to which the accused was subjected while held in jail, at the mercy of his jailer, is admissible, without first showing that it was freely and voluntarily made, after the accused was fully advised of his rights and warned of his danger." (P. 746)

"Upon the question of what constitutes compulsion, within the meaning of constitutional provisions similar to the fifth amendment, the following synopsis is taken from Words and Phrases. Vol. 2, p. 1351.

"Const. art. 1, Sec. 6, declares that no person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. Held, that the word 'compulsion' as there used, means merely compulsion exercised through the process of the Courts, or through laws acting directly on the party, and has no reference whatever to an indirect or argumentative pressure, such as is claimed is exerted by Act 1869 (Laws 1869, c, 678) declaring that on a criminal trial the accused shall at his own request, but not otherwise, be deemed a competent witness against himself. People v. Courtney, 94 N. Y. 490, 493." (P. 751)

(5) "The accused may be presumed to know the law — that is, that any statements or admissions which he voluntarily makes will be used against him; but he will also be presumed to know that he will not be compelled to be a witness against himself and that involuntary statements cannot be used in evidence against him. Hence, the question for determination is whether, in the absence of evidence that the accused was com-

pelled to make the statements attributed to him — that is, evidence other than that of his imprisonment or arrest — they can be considered as evidence against him. Even if he were advised that he was not compelled to answer and that statements which he made might be used in evidence against him, while constituting prima facie evidence that the statements were voluntarily made, and therefore admissible in evidence, it would not be conclusive for the examination of a detained prisoner might be so prolonged, and of such a character, and made under such circumstances, that a court might reasonably conclude that it was not voluntary, even though he was so warned.

“The questioning by or with the consent of his official captor of a prisoner is essentially inquisitorial in its nature. He is confined, and perforce must submit to such questions. True, he may remain silent; but he cannot escape the questions, as he might if he were physically free. The actual existence of duress, arising from the fact that he is confined and cannot escape his questioner, is sufficient, and requires that he be advised that he is not compelled to answer, and, if he does so, his answers will be used against him. Fairness can require no less. So much at least is guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment. How can it be said, if a court required an accused to answer upon the witness chair, with the alternative of going to jail if he refused, was such compulsion as to invalidate the evidence so obtained, and, at the same time, that a prisoner questioned in jail by his captor was not compelled to give evidence against himself?

“Such a course would be to very nearly, if not quite, blind oneself as to what constitutes compulsion. As above pointed out, the compulsion forbidden by the amendment — or at least included in its prohibition — is compulsion exercised through the process of the court. The commitment by which the petitioner in the present case was held in jail is no less compelling process than were he in court and ordered upon the witness chair for examination. In fact, there is greater need to safeguard the rights of the accused in this particular, when under arrest, than in the court, for in court a record is made that will, eventually, afford protection, however great the abuse practiced. It may not always be so of the prisoner subjected to an inquisition in his cell.

“While it may be that many know of their rights, and, even when in prison, have the will and courage to stand upon them, there certainly are others who do not. The safer and better course to pursue is to require evidence that each and every prisoner has been advised of his right to remain silent, and warned of the danger in speaking, before any statement made is admitted, rather than enter upon a more or less speculative inquiry as to whether the statements of accused were made voluntarily or not. In the nature of things, it often happens, not only upon the examination in the jail, but upon that in court regarding the circumstances of the inquiry at the jail, that there are many against one, the accused. Whether it arises from zeal or prejudice, born of their calling, the nature of the accusation or situation, or all of these and other things, it does

not matter — consciously, or unconsciously, upon such inquisition, the police, and officers having similar duties, often array themselves against the accused. An instance of this is to be noted in the present case. While both of the witnesses for the prosecution were asked to tell all that accused said when he was examined at the jail, it remained for the leading questions of the attorney for the accused to elicit the fact that the accused was a discharged soldier of the late war, although many things had been upon direct examination recounted, no more pertinent, but which would not reflect such credit upon the accused.

“The demurrer to the petition will be overruled.” P. 753

## CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that defendant has been deprived of his constitutional rights to not give evidence against himself. The Judgment of the Court should be set aside.