1962

# State of Utah v. Coy Ringo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE APPELLANT WAIVED ANY CLAIM AS TO THE VOLUNTARINESS OF HIS STATEMENT OR ADMISSIONS AT THE TIME OF TRIAL.

It is submitted that the appellant waived any claim he may now have as to the voluntariness of his statement by conduct at trial. Generally, the court should allow a defendant an out-of-court hearing on the voluntariness of any confessions. *State v. Braasch*, 119 U. 450, 229 P. 2d 289 (1951); *State v. Crank*, 105 U. 332, 142 P. 2d 178 (1943). Such a procedure, to establish preliminary voluntariness, is not necessary if the statement merely amounts to an admission. Thus, in *State v. Masato Karumai*, 101 U. 592, 126 P. 2d 1047 (1942), the court stated:

“Although there are some cases to the contrary, the great weight of authority and the better-reasoned cases hold that before receiving an admission—as distinguished from a confession—in evidence, it is not necessary that a preliminary show-

ing be made to the effect that the statement was voluntary.”

The statements given in the *Masato Karumai* case are similar to those of the instant case where the court was of the opinion that they were merely admissions. The court said:

“In the statement testified to there was no express admission of the guilt of any crime of which defendant was charged. Construed against defendant in its strongest possible light, it was, at most, merely an admission that the defendant killed the deceased because deceased was no good. On the other hand, it might well be taken to mean that the defendant merely asserted that the deceased was no good, without admitting the killing or offering a reason therefor. Even if taken as an admission that the defendant killed the deceased because deceased was no good, this does not admit that the killing was done with a criminal intent” (105 Utah at 602).

However, even so, it is well established that before error may be claimed, a contest must have been raised. *State v. Mares*, 113 U. 255, 192 P. 2d 861 (1948). In the instant case, defense counsel expressly withdrew his objection to the testimony of Deputy Andrus. As to Mr. Wright, no objection to his testimony reciting the accused’s statements was voiced. Not until after full cross-examination of the state’s witnesses, and presentation of the defense, was any objection voiced. This was in the nature of a motion to strike after the full testimony had, with appellant’s express consent, been placed before the jury. No effort was made to have the appellant testify out of the

hearing of the jury as to the voluntariness of the statements, nor were instructions requested by the appellant on the issue. The general rule is stated in Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., Sec. 348:

“It is a general rule that, in order to take advantage of the admission of evidence by the trial court as error and to secure a reversal of its judgment upon appeal, the evidence must be objected to in the trial court.”

Sec. 351, *ibid.*:

“Any objection to the admissibility of evidence is waived by failure to object thereto. If defendant fails to object to evidence when first offered, he waives its incompetency.”

Sec. 352, *ibid.*:

“A party who has allowed obviously incompetent evidence to be received without objection is not entitled to have it stricken out, but at most to have the jury instructed to disregard it.”

It is submitted, therefore, that the appellant's express withdrawal of his objection to Deputy Andrus's testimony, his failure to object to the testimony of Mr. Wright, his belated motion to strike and his failure to request an instruction to the jury waived any claim of error.

Further, since the appellant offered no evidence, nor sought to place the matter before the jury, no complaint could be had. In *State v. Dunkley*, 85 U. 546, 39 P. 2d 1097 (1935), a claim of improper admission of a confession was based on the failure to allow the appellant to see counsel. No issue, however, was joined at trial. The court stated:

“\* \* \* The matter, for what it is worth, ought to have been put before the jury. But since the defendant did not offer to do so, nor offer any evidence before the jury bearing on the question of voluntariness, we think the defendant is not in position to complain.”

It is submitted, therefore, no claim of error is properly before the court.

## POINT II

THERE HAS BEEN NO VIOLATION OF THE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 12, OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

The appellant contends that the circumstances of his questioning by prison officials and members of the sheriff's office, and the resulting admissions made by him occurred in violation of his state constitutional rights against self incrimination. The appellant's contention is based upon the facts that the appellant was in custody at the time of the interrogation, and at that time was not advised of his rights to counsel, nor advised that he need not say anything incriminatory. On the other hand, there is no showing in the record that the appellant ever asked for counsel and was refused, or that he was unaware of his rights. Additionally, it appears that no coercion, force, threats, or promises were made to the appellant to induce the admissions, nor was the appellant a person of immature age or experience. Finally, appellant was only interrogated

a comparatively short time and appeared to respond to questions with complete spontaneity.

There is no mandatory constitutional requirement that a suspect be afforded counsel at an interrogation, nor that he be advised of a right to counsel or warned of making any incriminating statement. The absence of a warning as to these matters may, however, be a factor in determining whether or not a confession or admission so obtained was in fact voluntary. *State v. Masato Karumai*, supra. The essential question is: Was the confession voluntary? It is the evidentiary consequences of appellant's confession or admissions with which the court is in fact concerned. If the confession is voluntary, the absence of counsel or warning and the fact of custody are all immaterial. If the confession was involuntary, the evidence should have been excluded, and the admission of the confession would be reversible error. Maguire, *Evidence of Guilt* (1959), Chap. 3, and especially Section 3.07. Therefore, before reversal is in order, it must appear that the confession or admissions of the appellant were involuntary *as a matter of law* because of the deficiencies complained of on appeal. Further, appellant must bear the burden in this respect.

The facts relied on by the appellant and those apparent from all the circumstances must be considered in determining whether the appellant's statement was voluntary. *Stein v. New York*, 346 U. S. 156, 185 (1953). The appellant contends that the facts of the instant case give rise to a mandatory conclusion that appellant's confession or admissions were involuntary, and relies upon a federal dis-

strict court case in support of that contention, *United States v. Kallas*, 272 Fed. 742 (D. C. Wash. 1921). It is the position of the state that the *Kallas* case does not stand for the position urged by the appellant, is not the general federal rule, is somewhat contrary to the applicable federal cases, and is inconsistent, to the extent it may be claimed as applicable in this case, with decisions of the Utah Supreme Court.

The *Kallas* case must be viewed in light of the circumstances surrounding the decision. The case involved an application for a writ of habeas corpus to which the United States Attorney merely filed demurrer. The court had nothing before it but the bare facts of the petition and a record of hearing before a United States Commissioner. The petition claimed that the evidence before the United States Commissioner, upon whose order he was being detained for the grand jury, was insufficient to warrant detention. The petition alleged that the only evidence of wrongdoing was contained in certain statements he made to a government investigator while confined for investigation. There was no evidence before the commissioner of the crime except the claimed confession, which in the absence of a corpus would not suffice in any event to detain the accused. The court then by *dicta* indicated that a warning while in custody should be given, saying it was the "safer course." What the court was in effect saying was that such circumstances may be of a compelling nature, but the court merely overruled the demurrer, thus requiring proof of voluntariness. That the case is not authority to

support a conclusion that detention and absence of a warning of an accused's constitutional rights requires a finding of voluntariness can be found from other federal cases commenting on the *Kallas* case.<sup>1</sup> Thus, in *United States v. Lydecker*, 275 F. 2d 976 (D. C. N. Y. 1921), the petitioner made a claim contending the indictment against him should have been quashed for failure to warn him of his rights and because the confession was taken while the petitioner was in custody. Petitioner relied on the *Kallas* case. The court stated:

“The case of *U. S. v. Kallas* (D. C.) 272 F. 742, does not support defendant's broad contention.”  
The court further noted:

“\* \* \* *it is ruled that the fact that an accused was in custody does not render his confession involuntary, nor is it necessary that he should have been warned that what he said would be used against him.* It is sufficient if the confession was voluntarily made, though he was not warned or advised that he had the right to remain silent. Not to have had the aid of counsel, or that the confession was made to an officer while in custody, or drawn out by cross-questioning put to the accused and that Pinkerton detectives and other police officers were called in to assist in the questioning or to be present, or that he was confined in the police station and on the next day requestioned, are all matters bearing upon his asserted involuntary statement.”

Thus, the court recognized that question of custody and warning went only to the weight of the evidence in

---

<sup>1</sup>Additionally, a reading of the *Kallas* case shows the judge to be confusing the question of procedural correctness which relates also to self incrimination with that of due process based on compelled evidence.

determining voluntariness and did not per se render the confession involuntary. It is submitted, therefore, the *Kallas* case is no precedent for the contention broached by appellant.

Additionally, the *Kallas* case would be contrary to the holdings of other subsequent federal cases and with decisions of the United States Supreme Court if the interpretation urged by appellant were adopted.

In *Wilson v. United States*, 163 U. S. 613 (1896) the United States Supreme Court noted:

“In short, the true test of admissibility is that the confession is made freely, voluntarily and without compulsion or inducement of any sort.”

The defendant in the *Wilson* case was in custody, before a magistrate who questioned him without warning him of his rights, nor allowing him counsel. The court noted:

“And it is laid down that it is not essential to the admissibility of a confession that it should appear that the person was warned that what he said would be used against him, but on the contrary, if the confession was voluntary, it is sufficient though it appear that he was not so warned.”

The court then went to the facts of the case and noted:

“It is true that, while he was not sworn, he made the statement before a commissioner who was investigating a charge against him, as he was informed; he was in custody but not in irons; there had been threats of mobbing him the night before the examination; he did not have the aid of counsel, and he was not warned that the statement might



be used against him or advised that he need not answer. There were matters which went to the weight or credibility of what he said of an incriminating character \* \* \*. They were not of themselves sufficient to require his answers to be excluded on the ground of being involuntary as a matter of law."

It is noteworthy that the judge who presided in *Kallas* did not refer to the *Wilson* opinion; apparently he was unaware of it.

In *Powers v. United States*, 223 U. S. 303 (1912), the defendant was arrested on the charge of murder. He was taken before a United States Commissioner. The defendant, in custody, was also without counsel, and was not warned of his rights. The record otherwise showed the defendant "voluntarily" testified to the crime before the commissioner. The court held the evidence admissible, holding:

"We are of the opinion that it was not essential to the admissibility of his testimony that he should first have been warned that what he said might be used against him."

The court cited the *Wilson* case as valid precedent for its conclusion.<sup>2</sup>

Additionally, the lower federal courts have also followed policies that are not compatible with the broad concept espoused by appellant. In *Gerard v. United States*, 61 F. 2d 872 (7th Cir. 1932), the accused made a statement

---

<sup>2</sup>The *Wilson* case, as well as the *Powers* case, was cited with approval in *United States v. Carignan*, 342 U. S. 36, 41 (1951), which allowed admission of a confession while in custody and without counsel.

while in custody and without having been advised of his rights. Also, he obviously was without counsel. The court said, in rejecting a contention of error:

“Appellant further contends that there was error in refusing to strike and exclude the testimony of the arresting officers relative to appellant’s denial of the facts that he was acquainted with Cohen and Spivak, that he purchased the plates, and that he was ever in Spivak’s car. He bases this contention upon the fact that the officers failed to advise him, while he was under arrest and in their custody, that any statement he might make to them might be used against him, and that he was under no obligation to make any statement. There was no duress proven, and this contention is without merit. *Powers v. United States*, 223 U. S. 303, 32 S. Ct. 281, 56 L. Ed. 448; *Wilson v. United States*, 162 U. S. 613, 16 S. Ct. 895, 40 L. Ed. 1090.”

In *Wood v. United States*, 128 F. 2d 265 (D. C. Cir. 1942), the court said:

“\* \* \* The only bar arises when compulsion destroys the confession’s probative value. Confessions, it is said, do not become involuntary because elicited by questions, or made while the confessor is under arrest, or in the absence of counsel, without warning or caution that the statement may be used against him, nor by the concurrence of all these conditions in a single case. Admittedly these principles apply when the statement is not made in the course of judicial proceedings.”

See also *Himmelfarb v. U. S.*, 175 F. 2d 924 (C. A. 9th, 1949); *Anderson v. United States*, 124 F. 2d 58 (6th Cir. 1941).

Many federal district court cases have reached similar results. *U. S. v. Papworth*, 156 F. Supp. 842 (D. C. Tex. 1958), cert. den. 358 U. S. 854; *U. S. v. Wheeler*, 172 F. Supp. 278 (D. C. Pa. 1959)<sup>3</sup>; *United States v. Simpson*, 162 F. Supp. 677 (D. C. DC 1958). The latter case is especially relevant to the instant claim. In the *Simpson* case, the defendants were members of the Air Force. They were brought by an air policeman to the Provost Marshal, where they were interrogated by the F. B. I. in the presence of military officials. Counsel was not present nor were the accused advised or warned of their rights. A factor, not present here, also complicated the issue in the *Simpson* case in that Article 31, Uniform Code of Military Justice, 10 U. S. C. 831, makes mandatory the advising of a military accused of his rights before any evidence may be used against him in a court martial. Under these circumstances, the court held the confession properly admitted, finding that they were not thereby rendered involuntary where other evidence disclosed no duress and that "no physical force was employed and \* \* \* no mental coercion and no promises."

It must be concluded that the federal cases, including that of *Kallas*, do not favor appellant's contention. Nor do the authorities from other jurisdictions. *State v. Evans*, 345 Mo. 398, 133 S. W. 2d 389 (1939); *People v. Pongetti*, 72 C. A. 2d 749, 165 P. 2d 479; *People v. Tipton*, 48 Cal. 2d 389, 309 P. 2d 813; *State v. Preis*, 89 Ariz. 336, 362 P.

---

<sup>3</sup>Affirmed 275 F. 2d 94.

2d 660<sup>4</sup>. Therefore, appellant must find support from decisions in this state if he is to succeed.

An analysis of the decisions from Utah demonstrates that appellant's contention is without merit. In *State v. Masato Karumai*, 101 U. 592, 126 P. 2d 1047 (1942), a series of admissions were obtained from the appellant while interrogated by a police officer, while in custody, without aid of counsel, without warning the accused of his rights, and where the accused was of Japanese descent and claimed difficulty in understanding English. Further, evidence clearly existed that showed the appellant, at least subsequent to the alleged crime, suffered from some mental illness. The court rejected a contention that this rendered the confession involuntary, saying:

“But even assuming this statement were a confession and not merely an admission—as above concluded—still there was no showing that it was involuntarily made. The fact that the statement was made to an officer while under arrest does not make it involuntary. [Citing cases.] Nor is the fact that no warning was given defendant that what he said might be used against him conclusive, but all these facts and the circumstances existing at the time should be considered in determining the voluntary or involuntary character of the statement. [Citing cases.] The court, therefore, did not err in receiving this testimony in evidence.”

The *Masato Karumai* case is much more compelling in its plea for relief than the facts of the instant case, but since

---

<sup>4</sup>Intensive analysis of cases from other states has not been presented in this brief since the state contends Utah precedent is ample on this matter. But see Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., Sec. 568.

it clearly appeared that the accused's statement was without coercion or duress, the court found no error.

There was in this case no refusal of counsel or long interrogation as was the case in *State v. Braasch*, 119 U. 450, 229 P. 2d 289 (1951), wherein the court again upheld the propriety of the confession. The same standard was accepted in *State v. Bridge*, 3 U. 2d 281, 282 P. 2d 1043 (1955) and *State v. Ashdown*, 5 U. 2d 59, 296 P. 726 (1956), aff'd. *Ashdown v. Utah*, 357 U. S. 426.

In *State v. Nelson*, 12 U. 2d 177, 364 P. 2d 409 (1961), the following contention was raised:

"The defendant seeks reversal of his conviction on the ground that he was deprived of rights assured him under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution, and Sections 7 and 12 of Article I of the Utah Constitution, because he was taken into custody and kept in the presence of police officers and a magistrate and questioned concerning his conduct during the first two hours following the accident without being advised of his right to the aid of counsel, or that his statements might be used against him."

Again the facts of that case are more severe than those presented in the instant case; however, the court affirmed the use of the admissions against the accused, noting:

"\* \* \* There is no suggestion nor intimidation in the record that he was unwilling or even hesitant to talk to the Officer or to the Justice of the Peace, but he seems to have been voluble enough in conversing with them."

Under these circumstances, it can only be concluded that the appellant's complaint is not well taken. The facts disclosed here show no reluctance on the part of the appellant to speak about his crime. When he first entered the office of the warden, he appeared to invite questions by asking (R. 242) :

"Well, what are you going to ask me?"

Nor could he even have been advised of his rights, for the record shows (R. 235) :

"Q. And did you at any time inform Mr. Ringo he had the right to be represented by counsel?"

"A. No, sir, I didn't have a chance to.

"Q. But you didn't?"

"A. I just asked him what happened and he started talking."

Further, no duress or coercion was used, and, finally, trial counsel failed to even join issue on the theory now claimed for reversal.

This court has consistently said that it would not disturb a jury's determination of the voluntariness of a confession in the absence of a showing of a clear abuse. *State v. Crank*, supra; *State v. Mares*, 113 U. 225, 192 P. 2d 861 (1948). Here the facts in no manner demonstrate such conduct that could be deemed violative of Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution. There is nothing in that article requiring an accused be advised of his rights, or compelled to have counsel present, or be interrogated other

than when he is in custody; quite to the contrary, it is compulsion that is prohibited, and hence the question is one of voluntariness vs. involuntariness. A mechanical recitation of rights prior to interrogation would offer little comfort if a confession is otherwise involuntary and, on the other hand, the failure to advise or provide counsel is immaterial if a confession is otherwise voluntary. See Ritz, *Twenty-Five Years of State Criminal Confession Cases in the U. S. Supreme Court*, 19 Washington & Lee Law Review 35, 39 (1962). This court should refrain from a mechanical or formal attitude and approach the question purely from the view of: Was the confession voluntary? Such a rule allows for flexibility and protects both the public and the individual. When applied in the instant case, it appears appellant's contention of a violation of constitutional rights is unmeritorious.

## CONCLUSION

The appellant has failed to show that he preserved his claim for appellate consideration and, further, that his claim has a proper constitutional foundation. This court should consequently affirm the conviction.